IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,087

)

)

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC: 19 1990 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____ Deputy Clerk

HENRY P. SIRECI,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

LARRY B. HENDERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112-A Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Fl. 32114 (904)252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the direct appeal of a sentence of death imposed in the Circuit Court of Orange County by the Honorable Gary Formet following a new penalty phase. In 1977, a jury found Henry Sireci (Sireci) guilty of the first-degree murder of Howard Poteet. The conviction and death sentence were upheld in <u>Sireci</u> <u>v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981), <u>cert. denied</u>, 456 U.S. 984 (1982).

Sireci subsequently moved for post-conviction relief pursuant to Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.850 because his two court-appointed psychiatrists, Doctors Herrera and Kirkland, did not conduct competent psychiatric evaluations. Judge Formet granted an evidentiary hearing, a ruling that the state unsuccessfully appealed. <u>See State v. Sireci</u>, 502 So.2d 1221 (Fla.1987) ("A new

sentencing hearing is mandated in cases which entail psychiatric examinations to grossly insufficient that they ignore clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage."). After the evidentiary hearing, Judge Formet granted a new capital sentencing hearing based on the following:

> The Court finds there is substantial evidence that the Defendant's organic brain disorder existed at the time the defendant murdered Henry Poteet. That circumstances existed at the time of the defendant's pre-trial examination by the Court appointed psychiatrists which required, under reasonable medical standards at the time, additional testing to determine the existence of organic brain damage.

The failure of the Court appointed psychiatrists to discover these circumstances and to order additional testing based on these circumstances known deprived the defendant of due process by denying him the opportunity through an appropriate psychiatric examination to develop factors in mitigation of the imposition of the death penalty.

<u>State v. Sireci</u>, 536 So.2d 231, 233 (Fla.1988). This is the direct appeal of the death sentence imposed following the new penalty phase in which Judge Formet refused to permit Sireci to waive a new jury sentencing recommendation.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following letters written and received by Sireci just before the murder of Poteet (R1422) speak volumes:

Dear loving mother,

How have you been? I am doing fine feeling good. I have my loving wife along with me and we are getting along fine. Please get my W-2 form from Liebovich and send it with your answer.

I am getting tired of getting put around the bush about this and that. Suzy and some of my other cousins have told me that your husband isn't my real father. The last few years I was living at home he showed in many different ways that he wasn't my real father.

I spent X-mas with Irene and Bill Lowe. I knew that you and Irene were very close friends when they lived up north. So I asked Irene if you my dear mother said anything to her about my real father and me. She told me that you were still <u>in love</u> with my real father and always will be. I figure that I am a grown boy now and know (sic) more playing around. Just please tell me <u>who is he</u>.

P.S. Please don't get mad at Irene for telling me about what you had said to her.

Your loving son,

Haven't figured out what name yet!

Defendant's exhibit #3. Two weeks later Sireci received a reply which read substantially as follows:

Dear loving Henry, Perry Sireci,

I think you are the lowest, dirtiest, rottiest (sic), lying, stupidiest (sic), jackass I've ever seen! (God forgive me for lowering the jackass). The jackass has more of a conscious (sic) and more sense than you

ever dared to have. Your (sic) insane. Are you ever going to grow up and be a man. But I don't think the human race would ever claim you. You figure you're a grown boy. Ha! Ha!

Henry is the only father you had and ever will have and the sooner you realize this the better off you will be. As you will be beating your head against a brick wall the rest of your life & for nothing. As for the way we have treated you, you were fed, clothed and had a lot more than I ever had when I was a child. You also had the love of a father and mother who helped you out time and again when you got in trouble with the law and with money problems. Tell me one rotten dirty thing we have done to you to deserve the rotten dirty things you have been doing to us. You can but won't face up to the fact all this trouble you brought on yourself and no one else. So now you're running away and seeing if that will help. Go ahead blame everybody else for your troubles. Keep on running, lying, cheating. You're gone so for now hell and purgatory won't even except (sic) you.

You asked how have you been and do you really care? The way you drag me down in the gutter and hurt our feelings at every bend in the road. You know your dad is sick and never will be well but you, with such a dear sweet heart, kicking him in the teeth and not excepting (sic) him as your real father and you know we have money problems but do you give a damn. Hell no. Ma will pay my loan I ran out and what about the other money mom and dad helped you with. That's their hard luck. I got to play pool. I spend money on girls and see how many pants I can get in & fuck & get a venereal disease then see how many I can pass it on to. That really shows intelligence. Who cares. I don't. I'm on the tallest pedestal. I won't ever get knocked off. Ha, ha.

Well Benny Blackstone, alias Henry Perry Sireci consider yourself an orphan as we don't claim you as our once loved first son any more.

Your loving mother

Call yourself Benedict Arnold. I will get your tax and W-2 forms and that is all from now on don't call or write as we don't ever want to hear about your so called real father again.

Defense exhibit #11.

Sireci's wife was with him when he wrote the letter to see if Henry Sireci Sr., was his real father (R1421) and she was present when Sireci got the response, a letter she read several times not believing that any mother could write some- thing like that to her son. (R1429) Sireci would sit and stare at the letter and read it over and over again. He carried it around with him everywhere and could not leave it alone:

> Q. (defense counsel) Ruth, before the break we were talking about a letter that Butch received from his mother that you read.

A. (Ruth Blackstone) Yes.

Q. When you say that he read it, did you sit there and read it every word?

A. Yes. I've read it several times.

Q. Why did you read it more than once?

A. I couldn't believe that a mother would write something like that to her son.

Q. What kind of impact did the letter have on Butch?

A. He would sit and stare at it. He'd read it over and over and over again. I could be out in a different room, come in and catch him reading the thing over and just gazing at it. He carried it around with him. Everywhere he would go, the letter went. I never got so sick of seeing anything in all the days of my life was that letter. It was just like something he couldn't keep his hands off of. He kept on reading it and looking at it.

(R1446). Mrs. Blackstone testified that, after receiving the letter, Sireci went to Florida in October of 1975 to find a job simply because someone came to the service station where Sireci worked and remarked that good jobs could be had in Florida. (R1422-24;1466)

Once in Florida, Sireci picked up Barbara Perkins, a hitchhiker, and shortly thereafter moved in with her in Orlando. (R968-70) Perkins had three children and was married but separated, and Sireci agreed to help pay her bills. (R971) Sireci did not sleep much; he would go to work at five or six in the morning yet not go to bed until three A.M. (R1018) Perkins noticed that Sireci did not catch on to things as did other men his age. (R1018) He would get down in her floor while playing with her children as if he were one of them. (R1018) Though not intimate with Perkins, Sireci placed her on a pedestal and would do anything for her. (R1016;1020-21)

Perkins learned that Sireci had robbed a 7-11 store to get money for her as follows:

Q. (defense counsel) The first part of December in 75, there was kind of a turning point in your relationship with Henry or Butch, in that you had decided to leave Orlando?

A. (Perkins) Yes.

Q. But you didn't have any money, and

that he wouldn't be able to stay with you anymore because there was no money and you wanted to leave town?

A. Right.

Q. The next thing you knew he came back to you and said -- Well, I am sorry. The next thing, you said you knew that he had robbed the 7-11 store?

A. Right.

Q. And when you asked him about it, and he said to you, "I thought you said you needed money"?

A. Right.

(R1021). The robbery of the 7-11 store resulted in the murder of John Short, the clerk who was knifed to death by Sireci.¹ Sireci then went to Poteet Motors to steal an automobile. (R1023-24)

Q: (defense counsel) But he was going to get another car. And the purpose in going to the car lot was to get a car?

- A: (Perkins) Right.
- Q. That's what he told you?
- A. Right.

Q. He didn't tell you he was going to go there and kill anybody?

A. No.

¹ Following the conviction for the Poteet murder, Sireci pled guilty to the first-degree murder of John Short in return for a sentence of life imprisonment. Sireci subsequently moved to withdraw the plea, contending that his attorney misinformed him about the consequences another first-degree murder conviction would have should his prior sentence for first-degree murder be vacated. The trial court denied the motion to withdraw the plea; Sireci appealed and the denial was affirmed per curiam by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 565 So.2d 1360 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). <u>See</u> (R2579-2609)

Q. He didn't tell you he was going to go there and confront somebody and hit them or hurt them or threaten them, but he told you he was going to get to go there to get a car?

A. Right.

Q. To steal a car?

A. Hmm-hmm.

Q. To get the keys so that he could get a car. And that's what you thought was going on: Is that correct?

A. Right.

(R1024).

Perkins drove Sireci to Poteet Motors and dropped him off. (R1025) As usual, Sireci carried two knives, a hunting knife on his belt and a folding knife in his pocket. (R1026) Sireci also took a tire iron with him. (R985) Perkins related the following:

> Q. (defense counsel) He didn't take knives with him to go steal a car, that he didn't always have on him?

A. (Perkins) Right.

Q. Henry told you -- Butch told you that he was going to go find out where the keys were so he could steal a car?

A. Yes.

Q. That was what he told you before it happened?

A. Right.

Q. And then after it happened he told you that he was trying to find out where the keys were and there was an argument between himself and Mr. Poteet? A. Right.

Q. That the argument escalated into a fight that resulted in him striking him with his tire iron that we've been talking about?

A. Yes.

Q. And when Mr. Poteet continued to fight after being struck with a tire iron, that's when Butch stabbed him.

A. I think so, yes.

Q. Anyway, that's what he told you?

A. Right.

Q. At no time did he tell you that the reason he went there was to kill him?

A. No.

Q. Or that he planned to kill him as part of a scheme to steal the car?

A. No.

(R1027-28).

Following the murder, Sireci and Perkins drove to Macon, Georgia, and then to Nashville, Tennessee. (R1028) Perkins, knowing that Sireci would get caught, asked him to go into a K-Mart and steal a jacket for her because she was cold. (R1029) When Sireci tried to do so and was caught, Perkins left and headed to Las Vegas, using along the way credit cards taken from Poteet's wallet. (R1030-35) Perkins was apprehended in Las Vegas while using the stolen credit cards, and she gave a statement to authorities implicating Sireci in the murder. (R1035;1001-04)

In order to best understand Henry Sireci, it is necessary to consider his childhood. As the letters set forth at the beginning of this brief demonstrate, the man who raised Sireci was not his real father. Sireci's mother was 16 and unwed when she became pregnant with Sireci. In order to give her baby a father, she married a man 20 years older than her, a man she hated. (R1559;1568;1372) The Sireci's, an Italian family, lived in a predominantly German rural farm area located in Rockford, Illinois. (R1296;1306) While pregnant, Sireci's mother ingested poisons and abused herself trying to abort his birth, later stating, "evidently, it didn't work." (R1415;1560) When Sireci was born, doctors used forceps which deformed Sireci's head and blinded his right eye. (R2016) Use of the forceps in that manner may have caused organic brain damage, as could have the mother's ingestion of poisons prior to Sireci's birth. (R2016)

Henry was treated differently than the other children born to the Sireci's. He was made to work when the others were not, he was punished when the others were not, he was not given toys or clothes though the other children were, and he had to deal with a father who clearly hated him. (R1317;1349-50;1367; 1411-13) Neighbors observed that Sireci's father was very abusive toward Henry:

> Q. (defense counsel) Let's talk about Henry, Sr., for a little bit. How would you describe him in terms of his demeanor and his attitude in the way he dealt with Butch?

> A. (Mr. Doetch) Well, when we'd be over there mowing or raking or baling the

hay, before we started employing Butch to help us with the haying, his father was, would yell at him. He would -- we could hear him out in the field. He would holler very loudly and then the chase would begin. Henry would run from him. And his dad would catch him. And when he'd catch him, he'd beat him up. He'd hit him and knock him down and kick him and pick him up and knock him down and hit him and kick him.

Q. When he would hit him, did he hit him with an open hand or closed fist?

A. He just hit him. He, he would get very violent, and after the chase when he caught -- Henry was very nimble when he was trying to get away from his dad.

Q. This is how old?

A. Oh, he would have been probably eight, nine years old.

* *

Q. Did you see his father actually catch him sometimes?

A. Many times. He usually caught him.

*

Q. Hmm-hmm.

A. And sometimes, sometimes the chase would last longer, but he most always caught him.

Q. When he caught him, would you see him actually hit him in a way that didn't seem to you -- well, I don't want to tell you.

A. He hit him like he was fighting another man is the best way I can describe it. And it wasn't that Henry offered resistance or was fighting back. But when he would catch him, he would be, would be so violently raged that he just, he just punched at him. There were times when Henry had swollen eyes from being beat up. I mean, he, he hit him anywhere. I mean, it was just, it wasn't necessarily in the head or in his rear end. He may have kicked him in the legs, he may have had picked him up and punched him in the face or may have hit him, you know, upside the head. It was just like an uncontrollable rage when he got his hands on him.

(R1792-94) Doetch described another incident where Sireci's father chased Sireci up a tree, and then obtained an ax and chopped the tree down in order to get at Sireci. (R1796) Henry never complained or talked about the beatings. (R1795-96)

Sireci was a thief; he would always get caught. "He would do things in class that would be disruptive and he would take things that weren't his. Henry was always a known thief. He always would steal things. He would take things that weren't his. And he always got caught. One of the trademarks of everything Henry did in school was he, he always got caught. Whatever he did." (R1797) A neighbor described the Sireci household as a shanti and remarked that Sireci, after stealing things, would always conceal them in the same place and turn them over immediately whenever someone came to him and asked for the property. (R1800-02) When asked whether Sireci every sold the things that he stole, the answer was, "No. As far as I know, everything that he ever stole, people got back. Because they, they knew he took it. And they knew where it would be." (R1802)

In school, Sireci was socially passed, but finally dropped out. (R1798-99) When Sireci became bigger, he began working for the farmers. He was described as always being a good

worker who never complained, doing whatever he was told and doing it well. (R1800) At sixteen years old, Sireci was involved in an automobile accident and was thrown through the windshield; he received a head injury that left him semi-conscious for two weeks. (R1331-32;1527) Described as "goofy" and hyperactive before the accident (R1790;1758-59), Sireci's demeanor changed for the worse after the accident; he was disfigured and at times became disoriented and angry:

> Q. (prosecutor) So that's about a two year period after the accident that you were around him a good deal?

A. (Mr. Lowe) Yes.

Q. Did there seem to be any change in his intellectual capacity, from the way it had been when you were children together?

A. I think so, yes. There was a change. There's a definite change, yes.

Q. How was he changed?

A. He was more "goofy", I think would be the word. He didn't seem to -- he was not aware of some of the things going on around. Some of the things that would go on around us, he was not aware.

Q. Did he seem to be oriented as to where he was and what was going on most of the time?

A. I wouldn't say most of the time, no.

(R1332-33;1368-69)

One of Henry's close friends testified that, prior to the accident, Henry did not really know right from wrong, but the friend was able to keep Henry from getting in trouble. (R1323-24) Another friend likened Sireci's traumatic childhood to the friend's experiences in Viet Nam. (R1328-30) Sireci just did not seem to be able to anticipate the logical consequences of his acts. (R1468;1823-25) An example of this is found in Sireci's decision to change his name to Butch Blackstone;

> Q. (defense counsel) Did you know of his name changing in the old days from Henry Sireci to Butch Blackstone?

A. (Mr. Doetch) He - he told me about him changing his name. In fact, I think when I got reacquainted with him, he told me his name was Butch Blackstone. And I said, well, how did you arrive at Butch Blackstone? He said, well, I ran into a street sign one night and I looked up and it said Blackstone. I thought it would be a nice name. So I changed my name to Butch Blackstone.

(R1822-23).

At thirteen, Henry Sireci acted like a seven year old -- sweet but real slow. (R1351-52) Henry Sireci could be easily manipulated (R2125), especially by women. He was described as a follower who misunderstood relationships between men and women, doing whatever women wanted him to do. (R1353-54;1360-61) Certainly, Sireci was impulsive when women were concerned. For instance, while living in Tennessee, Sireci met a waitress on a Sunday morning and married her the following Friday. (R1394-95) She once remarked that she liked a leopard skin coat they observed in a store. Sireci later went back and spent \$3,000 to purchase the coat. (R1397) Though truly excited and grateful, Sireci's wife quickly returned it because she realized they could

not afford it. (R1397-99)

Sireci was known as a person who failed to appreciate the consequences of his acts, who sought approval and was starved for affection. (R1400) Several acquaintances observed that Sireci did not learn from repetition. (R1401-03;1772) He was unable to handle money matters and could not plan ahead due to his failure to appreciate the consequences of things. (R1399-1403;1776) He is unable to think abstractly, which is consistent with organic brain injury. (R1534-45)

While visiting Sireci's family, Henry's wife observed bizarre behavior from both Sireci's mother and father. She noted that, when Sireci and his father met, "You could see the hate in his eyes" (R1411), referring to Sireci's father's eyes. Henry had to have his wife accompany him into the bathroom when he took a shower in order to prevent his mother from coming in and watching him. (R1415) His mother would embrace him in a "lover's" hug, definitely <u>not</u> a motherly-type hug, which Sireci would endure with his hands hanging at his sides. (R1415-16) Sireci's mother wanted to know how her son was in bed. (R1416) When Sireci's wife talked to Sireci's first wife (Pam), Pam warned her to keep Sireci's mother away from children because she (Pam) had once caught Sireci's mother fondling her (Pam's) son. (R1417)

Sireci's wife spoke of specific acts of abuse against Sireci. For instance, when Sireci was a child a furnace blew up and burned him severely, but Sireci's parents refused to take him to the hospital. He slept outside in the cold because the burns

were too painful for him to sleep inside in the heat. (R1418-19) Another time, Sireci found a hair in his food and pulled it out, saying, "I'm not going to eat this." For this, Sireci's mother stabbed him in the back with a fork. (R1419)

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