## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE
FEB 4 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By Deputy Clerk

HENRY PERRY SIRECI,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 76,087

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

Sireci contends that the affidavit from a defense investigator shows the jury was tainted. The affidavit only alleges that up until the time Dr. Lewis testified the jury had no knowledge Sireci was on death row. As previously discussed, Dr. Lewis made it quite clear on <u>direct</u> examination that she had met Sireci while doing studies of death row inmates. This cannot be attributed to the state.

Sireci also claims the trial court erred in denying his motion to interview juror Miller. This court recently discussed a similar issue at length in <u>State v. Hamilton</u>, Case No. 75,717 (Jan. 17, 1991). In <u>Hamilton</u>, the issue as whether the jury was tainted by unauthorized publications being brought into the jury room. This court noted that the Florida Evidence Code absolutely forbids any judicial inquiry into emotions, mental processes, or mistaken beliefs of jurors. §90.607(2)(b) Fla. Stat. (1987); <u>Hamilton</u>, slip op. at 11. The test to be used is a harmless error analysis with the inquiry as whether there was a reasonable possibility the breach was prejudicial to the defendant.

- 32 -

Hamilton, slip op. at 14-15. Any inquiry must be limited to objective demonstration of extrinsic factual material disclosed to the jury and not the thought process of the jurors. Hamilton, slip op. at 14. An evidentiary hearing need not be conducted when an unreasonable allegation of juror misconduct is made. Hamilton, at 17. In the present case, the prosecutor's question was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt since the defense had already placed the information before the jury. Furthermore, as the trial judge indicated, any halfway intelligent juror would figure it out anyway (R 2688). The trial court was also concerned that the defense approached a juror (R 2685). See also, Tanner v. United States, 483 U.S. 107 (1987).

Finally, Sireci claims he had to forego presenting relevant mitigating evidence concerning his potential for rehabilitation. There was no proffer of any evidence that Sireci could be rehabilitated. The issue is waived. <u>Woodson v. State</u>, 483 So.2d 858 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). The defense position was that Sireci had severe organic brain damage, could not be held accountable for his actions, and could be completely normal one day and out of control the next. There was some testimony from a <u>state</u> witness, Dr. Upson, that Sireci could function better in a structured environment (R 2259).

- 33 -

## POINT III

APPLYING THE COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE TO SIRECI IS NOT AN EX POST FACTO VIOLATION.

Sireci argues that the application of the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance violates the ex post factor clause. He admits this court has previously ruled against him, but urges this court to recede from its position. This court has made its position clear on this position. <u>See</u>, <u>Justus</u> <u>v. State</u>, 438 So.2d 358, 368 (Fla. 1983); <u>Combs v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981); <u>Stano v. Dugger</u>, 524 So.2d 1018, 1019 (Fla. 1988). Sireci has provided no compelling reason for this court to overrule itself. The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals recently held that cold, calculated and premeditated was not an ex post factor violation as follows:

> Francis contends that the trial court's application of the aggravating circumstance "cold, calculated, and premeditated violated the ex post factor clause, article 1, section 10 of the United States Constitution. (The Florida Legislature added this statutory aggravating factor to the list after the murder occurred but before Francis's conviction.) In Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987), the Supreme Court set out the test for determining whether a statute is ex post facto: "two critical elements must be present: first, the law 'must be retrospective, that is, it must apply to events occurring before its enactment'; and second, 'it must disadvantage the offender affected by it.'" 482 U.S. at 430, 107 S.Ct. at 2451 (quoting Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 29, 101 S.Ct. 960, 964, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1981). We hold that no ex post facto violation occurred because the application of the

aggravating circumstance "cold, calculated, and premeditated" did not disadvantage Francis. As the district court reasoned: [T]he facts on which the trial judge relied in applying the calculated, and premeditated' 'cold, factor were the same facts underlying application other aggravating of factors, such as 'hindering law enforcement' and 'especially atrocious and cruel.' Francis argues that the retrospective application of this factor adversely affected his sentence because the trial judge mistakenly enumerated rather two aggravating three, than The Florida sentencing scheme factors. is not founded on 'mere tabulation' of aggravating and mitigating factors, but relies instead on the weight of the underlying facts. Herring v. State, 446 So.2d 1049, 1057 (Fla. 1984).... [I]t was proper for [the trial court] to consider those specific circumstances in Francis v. Dugger, 697 sentencing. F.Supp. at 482.

Francis v. Dugger, 908 F.2d 696, 704-05 (11th Cir. 1990). Even if the cold, calculated, and premeditated were invalidated, the four remaining aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances.

### POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECTED THE STATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES BECAUSE THEY WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY A REASONABLE QUANTUM OF COMPETENT PROOF.

Sireci claims the trial court did not apply the correct standard and otherwise erred in rejecting the four statutory mitigating factors claimed by the defense.

Regarding mitigation, the trial court order reads:

Based upon the mitigating evidence presented the defense claims four statutory mitigating circumstances exist.

Extreme Mental or emotional 1. disturbance. Based upon the testimony of Drs. Lewis and Pincus it is clear the Defendant has a high potential for aggression and violence. This may be a basis for the medical conclusion he was under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance and may tend to decrease the to the weight given aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious or the evidence cruel but does not establish а legal basis for the statutory mitigating circumstance.

2. Extreme duress or substantial domination. The evidence showed the Defendant was vulnerable to suggestions and the robbery was probably committed to get money for Barbara Perkins but falls short of showing the murders were committed while under extreme duress or the substantial domination of another person. The Defendant was exercising his free will and knowingly committed this murder.

3. The							
appreciate	the	crin	nina	lity	0	f	his
conduct or t	to con:	form	his	condu	uct	to	the
requirements			the		aw		was
substantially impaired. The Defend						lant	
understood							
conduct.	He	acte	ed	to	eli	mir	nate

witnesses to his robberies and avoided the location of one of the robberies after its commission to avoid detection. He prepared in advance for the death of Howard Poteet.

4. The Defendant's age. The of evidence the Defendant's low emotional is insufficient age to establish this statutory mitigating circumstance.

While the Court does not find any statutory mitigating circumstances there are significant nonstatutory mitigating circumstances which must be weighed. In spite of his bleak childhood the Defendant was a hard and steady worker. He manifested a concern for others and was unselfish with his friends and family. He has done well in prison. He has brain damage and has suffered severe abuse as a child.

The Defendant's brain damage and history of abuse resulting in his having at least two factors common in persons aggressive violent does not establish an uncontrolled propensity for violence nor can it be found to be the cause of the heinous nature of the offense but does cause this court togive lesser weight to that aggravating circumstance.

(R 3305-07).

Although the trial judge found the degree of mental or emotional disturbance was not "extreme" enough to qualify as a <u>statutory</u> mitigating factor, he did give it weight as a nonstatutory mitigating factor under the auspices of brain damage and severe abuse. Additionally, the judge weighed this factor by giving the aggravating circumstance of heinous, atrocious and cruel lesser weight due to the brain damage and history of abuse. Although the statutory mitigating factor is defined as "extreme,"

this does not preclude the trial judge from considering lesser degrees of mental disturbance. See, Blystone v. Pennsylvania, 110 S.Ct. 1078, 1084. This is the approach the trial court used. The facts surrounding the murder do not indicate an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. Sireci announced that he was going to rob a car and money, called ahead to be sure the car lot stayed open, had Perkins drop him off and station herself across the street so he could not be seen, and carried weapons to the scene. After the murder he returned to the motel where Perkins picked him up, went home and washed the bloody items, disposed of the, and proceeded to establish an alibi. This is not the extreme disturbance seen in Cheshire v. State, 568 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1990), where a defendant has been drinking, is emotionally inflamed by being rejected by a woman, then finds his estranged wife in bed with another man. Neither is this the extreme disturbance of Nibert v. State, 16 F.L.W. S3 (Fla. Jan. 13, 1990), where the defendant suffered from chronic and extreme alcohol abuse, had been drinking the day of the crime, was abused as a child, and lacked control over his behavior when drunk. The evidence in Nibert showed that after the murder, he was white, hyperventilating, gasping for breath, had dry heaves, and was freaked out. Although Sireci contends that he presented uncontroverted evidence, the record shows that the defense experts were impeached during cross-examination and contradicted by Dr. Upson. There is hardly a "reasonable quantum of competent proof" on this or the other statutory mitigating circumstances. See, Nibert, supra at S4; Campbell v. State, 16 F.L.W. S1 (Fla.

- 38 -

Dec. 13, 1990). Dr. Upson stated several times that there was no significant connection between the circumstances of the crime and any brain damage Sireci might have (R 2285, 2291, 2292, 2424). The Poteet murder must also be viewed in context of the Short murder. When Sireci realized he could rob and kill without being caught, he quickly planned another robbery/murder. This was a calculated decision, not an impulsive act which arose from an extreme mental or emotional disturbance.

The record does not support the statutory mitigating circumstance of substantial domination. There is absolutely <u>nothing</u> which shows Perkins manipulated, coerced or even encouraged Sireci to commit this murder. To the contrary, Perkins testified she did not want to participate (R 982). Sireci was the person dominating, not the one being dominated.

for Sireci's Likewise, there is record support no allegations he did not appreciate the criminality of his conduct or was unable to conform his conduct to the requirements of the What the record shows is that Sireci committed a robbery in law. 1970 and was caught because he did not eliminate the witness. When he eliminated John Short, he got away with it. It's simple. The consequence of not eliminating the witness is getting caught. So he eliminated Howard Poteet. Sireci's statements to Woodall and Wilson show he understood exactly what he had to do (R 1195, There was no uncontroverted evidence of this mitigating 1209). circumstance. On the contrary, Dr. Upson specifically concluded that Sireci understood the consequences of his behavior and could conform it to the requirements of the law (R 2422-24). In his

1962 testing, Sireci said they lock criminals up so they don't do it again (R 2227).

Sireci was twenty-seven at the time of the murder. There was no testimony that his low emotional age contributed to the crime. Age is a mitigating circumstance only when it is relevant to the defendant's mental or emotional maturity and his ability to take responsibility for his own acts and appreciate the consequences flowing from them. <u>Eutzy v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 755, 759 (Fla. 1984). <u>See also, Echols v. State</u>, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1985); <u>Lamb v. State</u>, 532 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1988); <u>LeCroy v.</u> <u>State</u>, 533 So.2d 750 (Fla. 1988).

The only testimony Sireci points to to establish this mitigating circumstance is that of a co-worker who said Sireci acted like a little boy. He points to no expert testimony to establish a "reasonable quantum of competent proof" of low emotional age. Dr. Upson testified that Sireci's IQ was 95 and his abilities were consistent with his IQ. Sireci was a hard worker and owned property in two states.

The resolution of conflicts in expert or other testimony is solely the responsibility of the judge and this court has no authority to reweigh that evidence. <u>See, Gunsby v. State</u>, 16 F.L.W. S114 (Fla. Jan. 15, 1991); <u>Lopez v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1988); <u>Stano v. State</u>, 460 So.2d 980 (Fla. 1984). In <u>Gunsby</u>, the trial court considered the conflicting testimony, resolved the conflicts among the mental health experts, and to a large extent, rejected the testimony of the expert who concluded Gunsby had a severe mental condition. The trial judge here

- 40 -

discussed the defense expert's testimony and found that it established nonstatutory mitigation (R 3304-05). However, the evidence did not establish statutory mitigation. The record supports the trial court's findings. POINT V

THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE PRESENTING ERROR BY VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE OR NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATING THE LATTER ISSUE IS NOT CIRCUMSTANCE. PRESERVED FOR REVIEW.

Sireci reiterates the allegations of Points I, II, and III and claims that these errors, added together with a <u>Booth</u>  $^{12}$ violation, and improper introduction of nonstatutory aggravating factor, render the jury recommendation unreliable.

Sireci seems to claim that allowing Mrs. Poteet to testify is a per se Booth violation. He points to no testimony which points to victim impact evidence. The record shows that the court asked the prosecutor to verify that the witness would testify about the victim having his wallet (R 1139). The record shows that the state attorney then told the court that Mrs. Poteet could testify her husband had the wallet (R 1140). On direct examination she testified that Mr. Poteet had his wallet when he left for work (R 1143). When asked on cross-examination whether she actually saw Mr. Poteet put the wallet in his pocket, she said she did not but was sure he had it because he always put it on the chest of drawers (R 1145). She had seen the wallet on the chest of drawers before he left, and it was not there after he left (R 1146). At this point defense counsel objected that the witness only presented circumstantial, not direct, testimony that the victim had his wallet. Defense counsel also objected that the state had elicited testimony about credit card slips (R There was no contemporaneous objection to this later 1147).

<sup>12</sup> Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496 (1987).

- 42 -

testimony so that issue is waived. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978). The state attorney told the court he had asked the witness about her testimony and she said she had seen the wallet, but she backed down on cross-examination (R 1149). The state attorney asked the court to make a finding on the record that the two Poteet witnesses did not show any emotion while they were testifying which the court so noted (R 1151). State, 565 (Fla. So.2d 1311 1990) See, Thompson v. (identification of victim by family member harmless error where witness showed no emotion).

Sireci also objects to the question whether the witness' father was robbed and murdered. Defense counsel objected and the state withdrew the question. Counsel did not request a mistrial. The next objection was when the state asked the victim's son how he became involved in "doing that" after the witness had said he arrived at 7:00 a.m. The witness then answered that his father It is unclear how this testimony can be went to auctions. classified as Booth evidence or how it was even responsive to the The witness again gave an unresponsive answer when he question. offered the testimony that his father kept mementos in his The court instructed the witness to answer only what the wallet. question called for so the state could control what evidence came There was no intent on the state's part to in (R 1123-24). elicit the complained-of answers, neither were the answers pure Booth material.

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